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Two images by Robert Wilson on 12th August 2017 taken at Wahroonga.  The top image shows the Sydney end of the Sydney-bound platform with the 1927 stepway, the 1938 entrance pergola and the trees planted after the removal of three fig trees in 2010. The sites of the gardens on each side of the corridor are shown by the lawn areas. The Coonanbarra Road footbridge is just visible in the distance.
In the bottom image, the ‘heritage’ platform seats can be seen towards the Hornsby end of the Hornsby-bound platform with the seat ends embossed with “Wahroonga 1994”. The doors to the public toilets are visible, as is the former location of the garden.
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[bookmark: _Hlk528164064]
THE BIRTH OF THE NORTH SHORE LINE
Premier, George Dibbs, announced in 1883 that the North Shore line was to be built as one of 11 proposed branch lines proposed in that year.  Dibbs was one of the Parliamentary representatives for the area on the North Shore. The legislation to construct the line between Hornsby and St Leonards was passed by the New South Wales Parliament in 1884. Tenders for the line construction closed, for the first time, on 1st December 1885. 
Henry Parkes beat Dibbs in the 1885 colonial general elections for the North Shore electorate of St Leonards, but he was not a member of the Government at the time.  Unsurprisingly, there was a reluctance by those holding office to commence the line and procrastination went on. Jacob Garrard was the Member for Balmain in 1886 and also the Minister for Public Works between 22nd December 1885 and 25th February 1886.  Garrard maintained that the proposed North Shore railway would be too costly, owing to the land resumptions and he thought a tramway along Lane Cove Road (now the Pacific Highway), without land resumptions, would be a better option than the railway.   In making that statement, he supported the view of John Whitton, the Engineer-in-Chief for Railway Construction.  Whitton opposed the construction of the railway and had recommended that a tramway be built, but one newspaper editor thought Garrard and Whitton were the only two men in Sydney of that view.
It was not until Henry Parkes’ Government was in office that he was in a position to start construction of the line in the second half of 1887.  Tenders were called for a second time in June 1887 with a proposed completion date of 31st December 1888. The branch line between Hornsby and St. Leonards opened on 1st January 1890.  The contract time for construction had been 18 months, but this turned out to be 30 months or a construction rate of one mile every three months.  Why so slow?  The answer is found in the limited amount of capital funds available, which had started to decline after 1886, and Whitton’s dis-interest in the project.
[bookmark: _Hlk528164345]A FUNDING SHORTAGE IMPACTS ON CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS
One indicator of the shortage of capital funds was the number of other railway lines that were opened for passenger traffic in 1890?  None is the answer.  How many were opened in 1891?  None is again the answer.  The next public railway line opened after the North Shore line was in April 1892 and involved a mere three miles of track between Yass Junction and Yass Town.  When was the last line opened before the North Shore line?  It was eight months previously when the line between Michelago and Cooma was opened.  The significance of the opening of the North Shore line is reflected in the knowledge that it was the only new passenger line opened during a three-year period between May 1889 and April 1892.  What was the reason for such limited rail construction activity between 1889 and 1892?  Money, or rather the lack of it, is the answer.
Not only was the shortage of money reflected in the paucity of the construction of new railway lines, it is also shown in the decisions by John Whitton in relation to the provision of infrastructure on the line between Hornsby and St. Leonards.  The following is a list of those aspects of construction that demonstrated a shortage of capital money:
· the near-exclusive use of timber for all buildings, including residences, for all stations except the terminus and all residences except those at Turramurra, Chatswood and St. Leonards,
· the re-use of the office for the Resident Engineer at Gordon as a residence for the Station Master,
· the use of the cheapest building design for the unattended stations, featuring for the first time the use of the single-pitched roof sloping to the rail head with a minimal, three-feet wide platform awning,
· the location of the residence for the Station Master on a much-elevated position on the then Lane Cove Road, compared to the location of the platform (in order to save money for the provision of a road to the residence),
· the elimination of most gatehouses “for the unusually large number of level crossings”, except for one built at Chatswood and one proposed but not built at Pymble,[footnoteRef:1]  [1:  There was no gatekeeper at Pymble as the Pymble Progress Association requested one in 1902.  See Sydney Morning Herald, 18th October 1902, p. 9.] 

· the highly unusual utilisation of an existing house at Pymble to act as a ticket office and an existing cottage at Wahroonga as a residence for a Gatekeeper,[footnoteRef:2] [2:  Evening News, 1st January 1890 p. 6.] 

· the large number of unattended stations – representing 50%, compared to the 1884 Erskineville-Hurstville line where there were no unattended stations,
· the provision of only two intermediate “passenger stations” – at Gordon and Chatswood, the remainder having more primitive structures called waiting sheds,
· the use of the small version of “passenger station”, measuring 33 feet in length, at Gordon and Chatswood, compared to the standard length of 55 feet used at St. Leonards,
· the absence of a porched entry from the road side of the “passenger stations” at St. Leonards,
· the use of three-rail fencing at St. Leonards station, rather than the use of the prettier, but more expensive, picket fencing applied to important stations,
· the incompletion of the terminus platform building and the Station Master’s residence at St. Leonards at the time of the line opening,
· the selection of the “temporary” terminus some three miles short of the intended destination.
The above standards adopted for the line clearly demonstrated that very restricted funding was applied to the infrastructure, in complete contrast to the large and magnificent structures that existed at every station on the 1884 line to Hurstville.  The construction of the North Shore line had been approved under considerable pressure by the powerful owners of the land, many of whom were politicians.  On that basis, it could be expected that the line should have had magnificent grand and attractive platform buildings and residences, but this did not occur.  Why?  Perhaps John Whitton convinced his political superiors that money was critically tight or that he was using that argument as a ruse to exercise departmental revenge – a policy of disruption he engaged when his advice was rejected.  After all, the politicians approved the use of a railway against his wishes.  It can safely be said that all the players – politicians and public servants – displayed the extent of their powers in the opening of the line.
[bookmark: _Hlk528164967]MANIFESTATIONS OF THE IMPACT OF THE CHANGE OF ENGINEERS-IN-CHIEF
John Whitton went on pre-retirement leave on 29th May 1889 and formally retired on 31st May 1890.  After Whitton’s departure in 1889, Henry Deane acted in the top position until 1st July 1891, at which time he was appointed as the successful incumbent.
There were several features about the construction of the North Shore line which marked the project as a transition from the days of John Whitton to the time of his successor, Henry Deane.  These features were:

· a change in policy where all intermediate station buildings were of timber construction,
· the use of a new design for small stations, namely the application of the single-pitched roof sloping towards the line,
· the use of a new design of residences for Station Masters with the movement away from the use of roofs with symmetrically placed chimneys to smaller structures featuring gabled roofs and often asymmetrically placed chimneys,
· the increasing use of concrete for culverts and building foundations,
· the large number of road overbridges, being 13 in total, compared to the rare use of road overbridges on previously built new lines,
· the substantial reduction in the number of gatehouses,
· the line being the last occasion when John Whitton’s frequently used residential design, featuring a pyramidal roof, was used and it was used unusually for the residence of the Station Master at Chatswood, rather than the normal use for a gatekeeper,
· the floor plan of the terminal building at St. Leonards with the female toilets located between the main structure and the male toilet, compared to the previous arrangement of including the female toilets within the ladies’ waiting room,
· the use of “air closets” for all toilet cubicles (to allow the discharge of unpleasant odours to the atmosphere), noticeable by the high terracotta air vents above each closet, &
· the use of both underground and above ground freshwater tanks, previous stations and residences featuring below ground tanks exclusively.

These transitional features were measures by Henry Deane of seeing the world differently through new bureaucratic eyes in powerful positions and were in themselves evidence of the significance of innovation at a time when capital funding was not plentiful. One caveat must be made. Because of the change in the top job, there is a degree of uncertainty as to whether it was Whitton or Deane who was responsible ultimately for the infrastructure actually built.

There is one statistic that does not support the argument that funds were tight and that indicator is the number of stations on the line.  No railway line previously opened had the stations so close together, representing an average station-to-station distance of 1.25 miles.  Even the blatant politically funded line to Hurstville had stations set at an average of 1.5 miles.  Perhaps Whitton was told what stations would be provided at what locations and the high number of stations probably reflects the powerful people who owned land at those locations along the line.  The relatively high number of stations meant that a lower level of approved funding was available for essential infrastructure at each station.


[bookmark: _Hlk528403825]THE FIRST WAHROONGA STATION BUILDING – 1890-1906

It was common practice by the Railway Department prior to 1889 to write the title of the line, such as Great Northern Railway, at the top of plans.  In this case, the title of the line was written as “S & N. J. R.”, meaning Southern and Northern Junction Railway. Although the line from Hornsby to its original terminus at St Leonards was merely a branch line, the title suggested a different intention, possibly implying that freight would be conveyed to and from the northern side of Sydney Harbour and northern destinations. 

The station arrangement plan for Wahroonga is dated 29th May 1888. It showed what was a standard arrangement for all intermediate stations at the time of line opening in 1890. There was a platform 264 feet (80.5 metres) by 12 feet (3.6 metres) wide, exclusive of 15 feet long ramps at each end.  As was John Whitton’s custom, the width of the platform was increased to 15 feet in front of the station building, which was a timber, open-fronted waiting shed.  The single-pitched roof of the waiting shed sloped towards the railway line, which was contrary to Whitton’s policy of sloping the roofs towards the rear.  This was an early but very significant change by Henry Deane.  Although Whitton and Deane initially used timber station buildings, all platform walls were of brick construction. The architectural plan for the 1890 platform building is not extant.

The original, single-sided platform wall was incorporated into the new island platform in 1906, when it was extended in the direction of Hornsby. The date of that first extension is unknown.  It is possible in 2018 to denote the original platform from the eastern side of the corridor and two subsequent additions. The second extension occurred with electrification in 1927 when all platforms were required to be 520 feet long to accommodate the electric trains. The original platform terminated at approximately the location of the first “Wahroonga” station nameboard from the toilet end of the structure in the direction of Hornsby.

In a move that indicated the inadequacy of capital funding, the Railway Department used an existing private dwelling as a gatehouse for the level crossing at the northern end of the station on Coonanbarra Road.  Each side of the road was protected by a set of two 15 feet wide gates.

The station opened at the time of line opening on 1st January 1890. The station was nestled between two earth cuttings.  At the time of line and station opening, Wahroonga station was unattended.  Pedestrian and vehicular access to the platform were provided by a 12 feet wide gate near the gatehouse on Coonanbarra Road.  There was an access point to the platform adjacent to the waiting shed.

There was no additional infrastructure provided on the platform between 1890 and 1895. There is a newspaper reference in 1893 that ticket offices were not provided at Wahroonga, Lindfield, Roseville and Wollstonecraft because of “insufficient traffic”.[footnoteRef:3]  Work on the expansion of the station accommodation commenced in April 1895, when the press reported that materials for the “improvements” were “now on hand”.[footnoteRef:4]  The only architectural evidence of the nature of the 1895 building is a plan prepared in 1908 for the relocation of the Wahroonga structure to Point Clare near Gosford.  The plan is reproduced on page nine.  The plan confirmed that the enlarged 1895 station building accommodated three rooms – being an office for the Station Master, the original 1890 open-fronted general waiting room and a ladies’ waiting room and toilet at the Sydney end.  The structure was 35 feet long by 10 feet wide.   The New South Wales Railway Department had a consistently strong policy of providing narrow buildings and the 1895 structure at Wahroonga conformed to that overall policy.  There was an off-platform combined male toilet and lamp room behind the platform building.  Additionally, there was an out of shed on the platform approximately 80 feet from the main platform structure in the direction of Hornsby. [3:  Sydney Morning Herald, 27 July 1893, p. 4.]  [4:  The Australian Star, 26 April 1895, p. 4.] 


A residence for the Station Officer was approved by Thomas Firth, the Engineer-in-Chief for Existing Lines, on 4th January 1896 on the Hornsby-bound side of the line behind the platform. In a record short time of 26 days, the approved plan was in the hands of the contractor.  Firth was in charge of the Branch between 1895 and 1903.  Robert Kendall also initialled the plan on the same day.  He was in the top job in the same Branch between 1910 and 1923. The building is shown in the plan below.

[image: ]
Features of the 1896 staff house were:

· Small size - 28 feet 4 ½ inches by 24 feet 1 ½ inches,
· Absence of an internal corridor, 
· Location of the front chimney through the roof ridge to one side wall,
· Restriction of fireplaces to the living room and kitchen,
· Continuation of the roof rafters on the same pitch to form a narrow front verandah,
· Near ground-level floor – one step only to the verandah,
· Single rain water tank without a top cover, &
· Detached toilet with pan service (not a cesspit).

If one believes the above plan, it appears that, at the time, the officer-in-charge of the station was residing in the gatehouse adjacent to Noonan’s (later Coonanbarra) Road. The design features of the Wahroonga residence were common to many similar residences after 1890.  Surviving examples may be seen at, for example, Werai, Exeter and Bundanoon.

There were no further changes to the station buildings between 1895 and 1906. However, because the railway station was the only parcel of Government land in the area, the railway property was used for a post office in 1900 and a telephone exchange 1905.  The post office was located as a detached structure immediately at the Hornsby end of the platform building, but was relocated to the rear of the platform in 1906 to make way for the present structure.  The telephone exchange was also located behind the platform building.  By the time the 1895 building was to be relocated in 1906, a pay public telephone had been installed in one corner of the general waiting room.

A goods loop was opened in 1891, being located on the Hornsby-bound side of the Coonanbarra Road footbridge, which had been erected in 1909-1911 period with duplication.  A photograph of the small, skillion-roofed goods shed appears in Australian Railway History.[footnoteRef:5]  The loop was converted to a single-ended siding in 1933 and closed, along with many other goods sidings in the Sydney metropolitan area in 1940.  North Shore resident and keen and knowledgeable observer of all things railway, Stephen Buck, advises that “the former goods yard is now a commuter car park and scout hall. Because the Warwilla Avenue side of the goods yard is away from the rail corridor, some parts of the original fence have survived, including recycled rail fence posts and one of the two goods yard 12 inch by 12 inch hardwood gate posts”.[footnoteRef:6] An image of the former goods siding area is overleaf. [5:  J. Longworth, “Reading the Landscape: Interpreting Visible Railway Relics Along Sydney’s North Shore Line”, Australian Railway History, August 2010, p. 289.  ]  [6:  Email from Stephen Buck dated 28th October 2018.] 


[image: ]

It was in 1895 that plans were prepared for replacement structures at Wahroonga as well as at Lindfield and Pymble. Both the Lindfield and Pymble buildings were strange-looking affairs.  At that time, all other intermediate stations retain their original timber waiting sheds.  The land surrounding the North Shore line was owned by several very influential politicians and it is not surprising that the station buildings mirrored the local land ownership by the construction material.  However, the selection of brickwork was the limit of expenditure and Thomas Firth allocated no additional funds to design something new or something attractive.  The reality was that 1895 was the year when the funding shortages were most severe.  That adverse financial problem was mirrored in the approval of some pretty basic, plain-looking and even ugly, buildings throughout the NSW rail system.  Yet, even the restricted use of brick buildings for Lindfield and Pymble do indicate a sustained dominance for the development of the Sydney urban railway way over rural extensions.
The list below shows the years when timber buildings were replaced on the North Shore lines between Chatswood and Hornsby:
•	1899 – Turramurra,
•	1900 – Lindfield,
•	1901 – Chatswood and Roseville,
•	1906 – Wahroonga and Hornsby,
•	1909 – Pymble, Gordon, Killara, Waitara and Warrawee.
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Plan dated 30th September 1908 showing the station building at Wahroonga between 1896 and 1906. The structure was relocated after completion of the present building in 1906.

[bookmark: _Hlk528404484]HISTORY OF THE SECOND (PRESENT) WAHROONGA STATION BUILDING

It was common news in the middle of 1906 that the Railway Commissioners intended to replace the 1895 timber building at Wahroonga.    There appeared to be a shared local view that a new station building was required, with one press report stating:

“Residents think that the "garden suburb" should have a better "doorstop," as a very indifferent impression of the locality is given by the present station surrounding”.[footnoteRef:7] [7:  Daily Telegraph, 1st August 1900 6, p. 15.] 


That comment was the limit of reported community concern about a replacement structure. There is no evidence of any public reaction to the design of the proposed platform building.

One correspondent to the Sydney press gave other evidence that the provision of a new station building was not a priority. He said:

“I hear a whisper that it is in contemplation by the authorities to erect a new railway station at Wahroonga. Allow me to state that, though the building is inadequate to the progress of the district, I am sure I represent the opinion of all the Wahroonga residents in asking for a new train in place of a new station, if we cannot have both. What we most need is a train leaving Milson's Point at 5.50 p.m.”.[footnoteRef:8] [8:  Evening News, 21st June 1906, p. 2.] 



The major issue for the local community in 1906 related not to the design of the platform building but to platform access, with two groups of local people holding different views.  One newspaper described the opposing views as a “considerable stir”.[footnoteRef:9]  The local progress association supported the Commissioners’ proposal to erect a bridge at the southern end with pedestrian access from the proposed Railway Avenue road bridge.   [9:  Evening News, 30th July 1906, p. 5.] 


The issue of access to the platform had first appeared in the press in 1902 when residents heard of the proposed construction of a bridge across the line, which would be the future Railway Avenue.[footnoteRef:10] At that time, 93 residents supported access from the northern end. The issue did not go away and, by 1906, there were 110 signatures on the petition supporting the northern access.[footnoteRef:11] The supporters for the northern end access suggested both a subway or footbridge access to the platform. They claimed that the southern access benefitted the first-class passengers as the carriages for first class passengers were located at that end of the passenger trains.[footnoteRef:12] [10:  Daily Telegraph, 21st August 1902, p. 2.]  [11:  Daily Telegraph, 30th August 1906, p. 2.]  [12:  Ibid.] 


At all the times the Commissioners met with local deputations, the Commissioners never expressed a preference as to the location of the platform access following duplication.  The only comment they made was that there would be only one access point.  Had the local community examined the proposed plan of the station, they would have realised that the Commissioners intended to provide access from the southern end, which involved a much lower expenditure as they were able to use the proposed road bridge. The major clue was expressed in the location of the male toilet, a facility which was almost exclusively provided at the end of the structure away from the entry point.

The only surviving plan for the replacement (i.e. present) building that is dated is shown overleaf and relates to the floor plan and it is dated June 1906.  The features of the building were:
· building located on an island platform,
· nine-inch thick, red-coloured brick walls,
· tuck-pointed mortar,
· 82 feet by 11 feet internal,
· 11 feet wide platform awnings on each side of the building for the length of the structure,
· gabled roof covered with sheets of corrugated iron, 
· roof of the structure extended at the Sydney end for the provision of a safeworking interlocking frame,
· steel awning brackets positioned on 16 sandstone corbels nine inches wide (eight awning brackets were used on each side of the structure), 
· steel awning brackets which would be later officially known as “standard awning brackets”, being in the shape of two inverted “U” shaped metal elements,  
· the roof ridge being penetrated by two brick chimneys and two metal cowls that provided ventilation to the toilets,
· seven rooms from the Sydney end being a parcels office, the booking office, the general waiting room, the ladies’ waiting room and ladies’ lavatory, a cleaner’s passage and “urinals”,
· fireplaces with hearths 2 feet 10 inches wide were provided in the booking office and general waiting room (no heating in the parcels office or the ladies’ waiting room),
· rendered string course around the exterior walls, 
· moulding around the window heads and moulded aprons under the window sills with a consistent design for all aprons,
· 16 small panes of coloured glass used in the upper window sashes and also for the fanlights,
· ceiling height of 11 feet 6 inches,
· moulded strapwork on the brick chimneys and terracotta pots on the top of the chimneys,
· concrete was used for the floor in men’s toilet and “Cleaner’s Passage”,
· toilets connected to a septic tank located at the Hornsby end of the platform by 1923, until the station was connected to local sewerage system in 1954,
· vertically set timber weatherboards used for the privacy screen outside the entrance to the male toilet, &
· timber finials on the gables.
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[bookmark: _Hlk527814034]The planning for the new building at Wahroonga turned out to be more than a plan for a single station as the plan for this building formed the basis, so far as decorations were concerned, of the design for those buildings at Pymble, Gordon, Killara, Waitara and Warrawee. The building at Wahroonga contained every design element that would be used until 1912 and the Wahroonga building can correctly be described as the benchmark urban station building for the North Shore. With a couple of minor changes, the design was used in other locations throughout the New South Wales railway system until 1924.[footnoteRef:13] [13:  The two post-1912 changes were, firstly, the addition of the station name in lower window sashes and, secondly, the use of two styles of the rendered aprons under the window sills, depending on the size and location of the window.] 

The North Shore line was duplicated at three different times. The section between Milsons Point and St Leonards was duplicated when it opened in 1893. Between St Leonards and Lindfield, the line was duplicated on 17th October 1900. The remainder of the line to Hornsby was duplicated at different dates in 1909, with the section through Wahroonga duplicated on 23rd May 1909. There is one outstanding question that needs to be asked.  Why were attractive, brick replacement buildings to be situated on island platforms approved and built at Turramurra in 1899 and at Wahroonga in 1906, which was a long time before track duplication?  Since these replacement structures were not necessary for train operations, it can only be assumed that their construction many years before duplication was the result of some form of pressure either from within or outside the Railway Department. The explanation remains unanswered.
The 1906 brick building was constructed to the immediate north of the first timber building.
When the island platform came into use in 1909, access was provided by a stepway which adjoined the arched bridge over Railway Avenue. It seems that increasing pedestrian traffic and related safety issues prompted the Department to build a footbridge with a nine feet wide deck adjacent to the road bridge in 1927.  Visible on the plan is the provision of a set of double doors leading into a small store.  However, the store is not under the stepway but within the brickwork of the adjacent 1909 double-arch road bridge.  The construction of sheds under stepways and within bridges was a popular practice of the NSW Railways as the locations eliminated all visual and physical intrusion into the public area of the platform.  In 2018, this store is extant, but it is believed that the set of doors has not been opened in the last 30 years.[footnoteRef:14] The footbridge plan is shown overleaf. [14:  Oral advice from Robert Wilson, local resident, on 5th November 2018.] 

[image: ]
The plan is dated 16th March 1927 and the approval is under the name of Robert Ranken, the then Engineer-in-Chief for the Existing Lines Branch.  Noteworthy, but unreadable, is the mention to “standard newel fitted” to the posts at the base of the stepway.
[bookmark: _Hlk528661641]The footbridge at Coonanbarra Road was provided in 1911, again with track duplication. Stephen Buck provides more details about the footbridge, stating that the footbridge “was refurbished about 10-15 years ago with thick concrete decking, which increased the weight so much that the centre support buckled under the weight and had to be replaced with a stronger structure. Unfortunately, the explanation for the strengthening of the footbridge was wrongly reported in a 2010 article in Australian Railway History.[footnoteRef:15] A second refurbishment of footbridge was completed and ‘opened’ on 26th October 2018 with the repainting of grey steelwork and fencing, replacement of the galvanised mesh screens with new micro mesh and replacement of the concrete stair treads. [15:  J. Longworth, “Reading the Landscape: Interpreting Visible Railway Relics Along Sydney’s North Shore Line”, Australian Railway History, August 2010, p. 288.  He erroneously states that the footbridge was raised to provide additional clearance for the overhead wiring system.] 

   
North Shore heritage author and activist, Mrs. Jennifer Harvey, makes an interesting comment about the footbridges, both north and south of the platform.  She writes “at the northern end of Wahroonga Station is a free-standing, or over the railway, footbridge that contains the (standard) newel posts featuring the (traditional) star design. The rarer knob design can be found on the newel posts at the bottom of the access stairs to the platform at the southern end”.[footnoteRef:16] [16:    J. Harvey, Submission No. 45 by the Ku‐ring‐gai Historical Society Inc.to the Inquiry into the Utilisation of Rail Corridors, 29th February 2012, p. 2.] 

There was one other direct impact of the War at Wahroonga railway station. There was a critical shortage of iron and steel for the duration of the conflict. One casualty involved the removal of unnecessary and non-essential iron and steel for recycling into war-related materials. This is manifested at Wahroonga by the removal of ornamental knobs on the top rails of the steps for both footbridges and the plethora of holes where the removed knobs were located.
THE SECOND STATION MASTER’S RESIDENCE - 1909
There is no such thing as a specific New South Wales Railways design relating to residences.  The New South Wales Railway Department utilised designs that were in vogue in the general community.  In other words, the Department looked over its boundary fences for its source of inspiration.
James Fraser, the then Chief Civil Engineer, approved the plan for the construction of the new house for the Station Master on 25th September 1909. Fraser went on to become Chief Commissioner between 1917 and 1929. On the last day of 1909, another plan was prepared showing the detail of the timber posts and timber brackets on the front verandah. Construction work was carried out in 1910 but the detail relating to the rear verandah was amended on 4th August that year.  At that time, the rear verandah was to be covered in with a glazed screen. Previously, it had been proposed to leave the verandah open to the weather.  The house was erected by a private contractor, namely William Frost, who signed the documentation on 30th October 1909 – well before the plans for the structure had been finalised. The plan of the residence is shown below.
[image: ]
The house was erected according to the plan, something that did not happen all the time. The structure accorded generally to the detailing of Federation residences built in the general community. However, the design features were mostly in contrast to, rather than consistent with, the design of the station building at Wahroonga. The house was 42 feet 9 ½ inches long and 30’5” wide. When purchased, the block of land was twice the width of the existing allotment. Vehicular access was provided by the existence of a lane at the rear of the property in which a “cart gate” was provided.   An image of the residence in 2018 is shown overleaf.
[image: ]
The house is located at 19 Illoura Street, Wahroonga.

To assist with an understanding of the differences between the 1906 approved platform building and the 1909 approved residence, the table below sets out some key elements of both structures.
TABLE: DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE WAHROONGA PLATFORM BUILDING AND RESIDENCE
	DESIGN ELEMENT
	PLATFORM BUILDING
	RESIDENCE
	COMMENTS

	Nature of land acquisition
	Resumption
	Private purchase on property market
	

	Floor plan
	Linear
	Symmetrical, based on a central corridor
	

	Materials for load-bearing walls
	dull-coloured bricks
	dull-coloured bricks
	Possibly from State Brickworks

	Bond of brickwork
	Flemish
	Flemish
	

	Roof style
	Gable
	Hip and Valley
	

	Roof material
	Galvanised, corrugated iron
	Slates
	Replaced by terracotta tiles at some stage

	Chimneys
	Face brick
	Face brick covered with roughcast
	Roughcast on platform buildings mainly restricted to rural locations

	Window heads
	Square with rendered cement moulding
	Slightly arched utilising soldier bricks
	

	Window sills
	Rendered cement moulding, with decorative aprons below
	Bullnose bricks
	Bullnose bricks were not used on platform buildings until 1931

	Decorations
	Use of cement rendered mouldings
	Timber
	

	Room size
	11 feet wide
	12 feet wide
	Railway policy was to restrict internal spaces to moderately-sized rooms

	Width of verandahs
	11 feet each side of building
	6 feet 4 ½ inches on both front and side verandahs
	

	Floor material
	One-inch thick hardwood, with concrete in male toilet & Cleaner’s Passage
	One-inch think hardwood
	

	Type of toilets
	Four earth closets
	One earth closet
	



The design, featuring the asymmetrical front elevation, as utilised at Wahroonga had been introduced in 1885 and was used only by the Existing Lines Branch until 1997.  In that year, the Railway Construction Branch prepared a standard plan using the alpha-numerical code “J3” for use on new railway lines. The design became popular and was widely used on new and existing lines up until World War One.  The structure at Wahroonga was the second last official residence approved for staff in the Sydney Metropolitan area, the last being at Homebush in 1912.  The Warringah Station Master occupied the house until 1996, at which time the land and dwelling were sold on the open market.
[bookmark: _Hlk528407710]WAHROONGA STATION GARDEN
At a number of stations within the boundary of the Ku-ring-gai Municipal Council, gardens were created between the running lines and boundary fencing on both sides of the line opposite the platforms.  These projects started in the second half of the 1920s.  In 1928, the station water supply was extended to service the garden area within the rail corridor. The garden was under the supervision of a private citizen, namely one “Dr Read”.
It was the gardens of Killara and Wahroonga stations that were featured on the covers of the Sydney suburban railway timetables in the 1960s.[footnoteRef:17]  These two locations have been the only suburban station gardens to be illustrated on railway timetable covers at any time since 1855.  The use of colour photographs on the cover of the suburban timetable commenced in the early 1960s and it is significant to note the Upper North Shore was chosen at an early and the only time when colour photography was used.   [17:  These were timetables dated 11.11.1962 (Killara) and 5.5.1968 (Wahroonga).  ] 

[bookmark: _Hlk528408141][bookmark: _Hlk528078008]SHELTER FOR TICKET COLLECTORS WAHROONGA - 1938 

At Killara, Waitara, Pymble, Wahroonga, Turramurra and Wollstonecraft, cabins were erected for ticket collectors in 1938.  These were to be integrated into the construction of gates at the bottom of the stepways. The work involved the construction of brick walls on each side of the entry gates with Tallowood roof frames and featured brick panelwork on the side walls. The entrances were further enhanced by the use of coloured cement mortar and the raking of the horizontal mortar joints.  These decorative features provided just a small expression of the Functionalist style. 
While the shelter for the staff and associated gate across the entrance have been removed, the overall facility remains.  Two enameled steel heritage information signs have been attached to the ticket barriers.  Unfortunately, Stephen Buck reports that the two signs were deliberately obscured by Opal card reader posts six months later.
The ticket barrier timbers were repainted in early 2018, according to Stephen Buck.
[bookmark: _Hlk528408211]

THE IMPACT OF WORLD WAR TWO - WAHROONGA

Sydney did not reach a population of 1,000,000 people until 1926.  Australia was a small country, with a small population and only needed small station buildings.  Burnley writes that Australia has had a long tradition of urbanization and cites that Australia was third highest in the world behind Japan and the United Kingdom in terms of urbanisation.   Australia may have been urbanised, but it is wrong to consider that Sydney had anywhere the population levels and especially density of other countries.  The fact that the vast majority of station buildings in New South Wales, including the structures at Wahroonga and Waitara, were never replaced with larger structures is a testimony that most platform buildings were erected with spare all convertible space or had no post-construction pressure for increased floor space.  No platform building on the North Shore was ever enlarged, though a couple – such as Waitara and Roseville – and post-opening, stand-alone ticket offices at the entry points to the platforms.  

The dominant building alteration on the North Shore and other lines was the conversion of former signal boxes and general waiting rooms for the expansion of parcels traffic.  There was one big drawback in the use of island platforms. The position of the station building at Wahroonga in the middle of the two tracks on the elevated platform rather than at street level on the side of the track was a huge inconvenience for customers wanting to deliver and pick up weighty or large parcels.  Also, until the widespread use of lifts from 1990, it was difficult if not impossible for disabled people or people using prams to avoid the problem with steps.

Albert Fewtrell, the Chief Civil Engineer, approved on 28th March 1944 the elimination of the general waiting room at Wahroonga and the amalgamation of that space with the existing booking office to form a parcels office.   The former parcels office at the Sydney end of the building became the new booking office. A similar treatment was approved on the same date for Warrawee. Pymble and Roseville also lost their general waiting room during World War Two for expansion of their parcels offices. The work at Wahroonga was completed on 29th June 1945. The elimination of waiting rooms was a popular strategy to address increasing workloads without incurring any substantial building costs and occurred at many stations on the New South Wales railway system.

There was one other direct impact of the War at Wahroonga railway station. There was a critical shortage of iron and steel for the duration of the conflict. One casualty involved the removal of unnecessary and non-essential iron and steel for recycling into war-related materials. This is manifested at Wahroonga by the removal of ornamental knobs on the top rails of the steps for both footbridges and the plethora of holes where the removed knobs were located.

Fewtrell had also approved the connection of the station to the local sewerage system in 1950 but it took until 1954 for the work to be undertaken.

[bookmark: _Hlk528408685]WAHROONGA BOOKSTALL – 1957

Dymocks Book Arcade held a license to operate bookstalls at stations throughout the Sydney Metropolitan area and constructed these facilities at many suburban stations, including one at Wahroonga.  The location of the bookstall is assumed to be at the top of the stepway.

An image of the supposedly location of the bookstall appears below.


[image: ]
This photograph, taken on 9th February 2006, shows the 1927 footbridge, what remains of the 1938 entrance and the probable location of the 1957 bookstall at the top of the stepway.


[bookmark: _Hlk528408836]THE IMPACT OF CITYRAIL AT WAHROONGA – 1993

With the establishment of CityRail in 1989, the task began of re-furbishing every one of the approximately 300 stations.  It was the turn of the station building at Wahroonga to receive attention in 1993. The plan for the upgrading of the station by CityRail is dated 14th October 1993 and plan was issued as a construction document on 17th November 1993. This was the most radical change to the 1906 building. The features were:
· elimination of the existing male and female toilets,
· elimination of the ladies’ waiting room and the parcels office,
· the provision of one male and one female toilet in the space of the former male toilet at the Hornsby end,
· conversion of the former female toilet and Cleaner’s Passage into a store room,
· the conversion of the former ladies’ waiting room into a general waiting room,
· the conversion of the former parcels office into a separate office for the Station Master, as well as a meal room, locker area and staff toilet, &
· the retention of the booking office at the Sydney end with a single ticket window.

The work was completed by December 1994. The location of the toilets at the Hornsby end of the structure occurred at only three North Shore stations, the other two being Killara and Warrawee. At other North Shore stations, the toilets were located with access from the side doors or placed in new overhead concourse buildings.  The most unusual aspect of the station upgrading was the virtual elimination of red and white paint applied to external fixtures, such as awning brackets, lamp posts and train indicator boards, as was the custom at virtually every other railway station in the CityRail area. Only very strong pressure placed on the project director would have resulted in the absence of extensive red and white painting, though it was applied to rubbish bins. Also amazing was the fact that the travelling public had the benefit of an internal waiting space for the first time since 1945.  

In addition, the staff benefited from the provision of modern facilities for their welfare. In essence, the only space that was not eliminated or divided was the booking office, though ergonomic furniture and a standard workstation were installed in the number of ticket windows was reduced from two to one.  There was unusual treatment of public seating in the station upgrading.  Thinking that it would be nice if “heritage” seating were provided, CityRail commissioned platform seats with the writing “Wahroonga 1994” on the ends of the seats. Another compassionate, though ill informed, initiative was the painting of the seats in what was widely known as “heritage green”. These seats survive in 2018. A different approach was made to internal seating.  Not only were the seats in the public waiting area not upgraded, they retained a remnant of their former railway culture with the station name expressed on the back of the seat.  Even more surprising, one of the former platform seats was utilised as waiting room seating, though it was subjected to the then corporate colour of red.

[image: ]
A traditional 20th-century former platform seat was used as seating in the public waiting room, though painted in the CityRail red corporate colour scheme. The image was taken on 13th March 2003.

CityRail prepared drawings in October 1993 to provide a canopy over the stepway between the footbridge and the platform, though it appears that pressure from the local community resulted in the decision to abandon the construction of the awning.

CityRail also, regrettably, removed, around 15 years ago, the original square-shaped concrete tap drains (with round cast grills) against the station building and replaced them with what Stephen Buck calls “hideous flush, plastic versions”.


[image: ]




[bookmark: _Hlk528409200]REMOVAL OF PLATFORM VEGETATION WAHROONGA – 2010

Ever since its establishment in 1989, it was CityRail policy to eliminate all vegetation on platforms.  The stated objective was the elimination of places for evil people to hide before undertaking anti-social activities to other travellers. 

In June 2010, three fig trees were removed from the platform between the station building and the bottom of the stepway. In October of the same year, a further three fig trees were removed from the northern end of the platform. The official reason in this instance was not to eliminate potential hiding holes but to prevent further damage to the “heritage-listed station building and sewerage systems”.[footnoteRef:18] [18:  Update, Issue No. 11 2010, CityRail, p. 2.] 


Overleaf is an image taken on 11th June 2010 showing the magnificence of the tree canopy. Also overleaf is an image taken on 11th June 2010 following the tree removal at the Hornsby end of the platform.  Stephen Buck was on hand to witness the impact of the tree removal.  He writes that, “when the station trees were replaced, the platform surface was also re-tarred. The new bitumen surface started to show holes within a few weeks of re-tarring. The holes were patched with black goo that stuck to your shoes”.  The July image shows the new bitumen platform surface.  Also noticeable is the station nameboard signage with its late-CityRail scheme of blue and white.

[image: ]
Both images by Robert Wilson

[image: ]


THE CONTRIBUTION OF SYDNEY TRAINS

One unusual feature of the station building at Wahroonga was the fixture of a sign painted on the end of the awning on the Sydney-bound platform indicating the height above sea level at 189.9 metres (i.e. 623 feet).  It seems that the sign was removed with the repainting of the station in about 2015.

All the station lamp posts were refurbished in 2017. Stephen Buck advises that new concrete footings flush with the platform were provided and painted in silver. The sealing of the gap between posts and bases was achieved with silicon.

The work of the current train operator, Sydney Trains, confirms that “improvements” are not necessarily beneficial.  The wall-mounted timetable and notice board frames have been removed. Local residents are hopeful that this was done in readiness for future brickwork and tuckpointing refurbishment. Perhaps it would be better not to tell local commuters that these facilities have been removed from 99% of stations served by Sydney Trains, never to be replaced?

The Government announced in June 2018 that planning was underway for the installation of a lift at Wahroonga station. Stephen Buck indicates that this idea has been resisted very vocally in the past by some local residents, as was the proposed full-length platform canopy in 1993, as the projects would diminish the heritage values of the station.

How are things at the station at the moment?  In a report as at the start of November 2018, Stephen Buck comments that, “despite a month of work at the station, the graffiti still remains on the lamp posts, the drain holes in the concrete deck are still blocked and the light above the stairs is still out (has been for well over six months). 

The upgrade at Wahroonga Station is being delivered as part of the Transport Access Program, a NSW Government initiative to provide “a better experience for public transport customers by delivering accessible, modern, secure and integrated transport infrastructure across the state. As part of the program, the Wahroonga Station upgrade would aim to provide a station precinct that is accessible to those with a disability, limited mobility, carers/parents with prams and customers with luggage”.

Transport for New South Wales lists the “key benefits” of the proposed project as:

· “a new lift to provide access from the Redleaf Avenue overbridge to the station platforms,
· a new walkway linking the lift at platform level,
· a new accessible ramp and pathway to provide access from the station to Wahroonga shopping village,
· refurbishment of the Redleaf Avenue overbridge,
· a new family accessible toilet and unisex ambulant toilet,
· a proposed interchange zone, which may include an accessible parking space, taxi zone and/or kiss and ride,
· improvements to CCTV and lighting to increase safety and security, &
· station building refresh work”.

Physical work is planned for 2019.


[bookmark: _Hlk528409311]A HISTORY OF WAITARA STATION

After the line opening between Hornsby and St Leonards in 1890, four additional stations were opened on the line, these being Waitara in 1895, Artarmon in 1898, Killara in 1899 and Warrawee in 1900.

No plans exist for the Waitara station buildings prior to the plan of the present structure in 1908.  There is documentary evidence showing the authorisation related to Waitara for a suite of improvements including a station building, a male toilet and “wicket gate fencing” at a total cost of £160.[footnoteRef:19] The entry is dated 28th August 1895. There is also a photograph that shows a three-room timber building with a single-pitched roof containing a booking office, a general waiting room and a ladies’ waiting room.[footnoteRef:20] The existence of the photograph demonstrates that the proposed building was, in fact, constructed.  The male off-platform toilet would have been located somewhere nearby.  [19:  Contract Book No. 253, former State Rail Authority Archives.]  [20:  Photograph No. 1016/1 in the collection of the former State Rail Authority Archives.] 

A residence for the Station Officer was constructed in 1895. It was located on the Hornsby-bound side of the line adjacent to the then level crossing at the Sydney end.
A plan was prepared in December 1908 for the provision of a subway to the proposed island platform. At an unknown later date, the stepway was covered.
It would appear that the present station building was not built at the time of line duplication as the plan was created on 30th June 1909 – five weeks after the opening of the duplication. Is it not odd that the building at Wahroonga was planned and built three years before it was required for duplication whereas the Waitara structure was a post-opening event?  The answer has something to do with the power and absence of power of the people served by the stations.  The Waitara platform building was an exact copy of the one at Wahroonga, except for the omission of a parcels office. It was initially proposed to install an interlocking frame under an extended roof at the Sydney end, but the interlocking frame was not provided. Safeworking Historian, Graham Harper states: “Waitara never had a signal box, nor did Warrawee, although the extended roof was provided at Waitara just in case. Every other station on the North Shore line had a box, bar these two”.[footnoteRef:21] [21:  Email from G. Harper, 28th October 2018.] 

The station building was connected to the local sewerage system in 1927 and electric lighting was installed in 1928.
In 1938, cabins were erected for ticket collectors at Killara, Waitara, Pymble, Wahroonga, Turramurra and Wollstonecraft.  These were to be integrated into the construction of gates at the bottom for the top of the stepways. The same design that was applied to the structure at Wahroonga was used at Waitara. Once again, the decorative features provided just a small expression of the Functionalist style.
On 6th February 1946, Albert Fewtrell, the Chief Civil Engineer, approved the construction of a small brick booking office at the top of the stepway at Waitara.  The proposed building, measuring 12 feet by 10 feet, was designed to the Inter War Functionalist style, with the roof extended to give weather protection for passengers buying tickets.  It was to have a low-pitched roof with the gables extended above the roof line, as was approved for Woy Woy in the same year. The roof was to be covered by Marseille tiles “of selected colours”. 
The proposed building replaced a small timber structure which was called a “passometer booking office” – whatever that term meant to officials. The Australian Railway Unions placed pressure on the Department in June 1946 for improved accommodation at the station and, thankfully, described the existing building, saying that
“the duties (of staff) are performed in a “passometer”, which is timber and glass built measuring 9 feet by 6 feet”.[footnoteRef:22]  [22:  Railroad, Vol. 22 No. 12, 28th June 1946, p. 4.  ] 

The Union complained about heat from the sun and draughts from the wind in the passometer. The Union must have got wind that the replacement structure would not be built because of the alleged estimated high cost, which the Union claimed was “too excessive”.  The Union was correct in its suspicion of inflated departmental estimates.  The replacement building for Waitara was not provided and the passometer continued to act as a booking office until at least 1984.[footnoteRef:23] [23:  The only known photograph of the passometer is No. 027022d in the Australian Railway Historical Society Archives.] 

In 1985, the State Rail Authority proposed to replace the passometer with a new booking and parcels office. The structure was to have masonry walls which were to be covered with pre-cast concrete roughcast panels platform building, as appeared on the overhead booking office in 1966 at Epping. The structure was to measure 20,450mm x 3,400mm with a near-flat roof concealed behind a wide fascia. It was not built by direction of the then Chief Executive, David Hill, though he approved the air-conditioning of the 1909 building. 

Waitara station received the standard CityRail station upgrade in the 1990s but, unlike Wahroonga station, the residents were not sufficiently powerful to prevent the application of the corporate red and white colour scheme to the various parts of the infrastructure.   One difference at Waitara compared to the Wahroonga station was the location of the public toilets on both sides of the building rather than at the Hornsby end. The former male toilet at the Hornsby end was converted into a store. A CityRail standard workstation was installed in the booking office in 1997 to replace the 1909 ticket window and furniture.  

Another well-known chronicler of all things railway, John Watsford, adds “at Waitara, may be five years ago, when the station had a bit of a tart-up, the ramp to the subway on the Pacific Highway side had steps installed.  Not sure why this work was undertaken. However, the ramp may have been too steep, or the local lads were riding their bikes through. The steps are a bit of a nuisance when running for a train”.[footnoteRef:24] [24:  Email from J. Watsford, dated 31st October 2018.] 



[bookmark: _Hlk528410125]ELEMENTS OF THE WAHROONGA AND WAITARA BUILDINGS THAT REFLECTED THE FEDERATION DESIGN INFLUENCES

The platform buildings erected at Wahroonga and Waitara in 1906 and 1909 were planned and erected at a time when the Federation style of architecture was influential outside the railway fence.  The elements of the platform buildings that reflected the Federation influences were:

· The use of face brickwork for all external building walls,
· The square-headed windows,
· The use of small, multi-coloured window panes for the top sash for all windows and for fanlights above doors,
· The corbelling of the strapwork on the chimneys,
· The style of the terracotta pots on top of the chimneys,
· The position of the moulded string course around all four sides of the building exterior,
· The moulding under the window sills, known as aprons,
· The gabled ends of the building, &
· The design of the finials on the gables.

While the design featured some characteristics of Federation architecture but, the Wahroonga and Waitara buildings also possessed features that had their origin in the preceding period of 19th century Victorian architecture.  These were:
· The use of four-panel doors with the smaller panels at the bottom of the doors,
· The use of render on the building exterior as a design feature,
· The use of the chimney pots of any style,
· The use of gables to end the roofline, &
· The use of corrugated iron on the roof rather than Marseille terracotta tiles.

The major materials used in the Wahroonga and Waitara buildings denote them as very good examples of NSW railway platform architecture of the period between 1906 and 1924.

[bookmark: _Hlk528410468]THE FAMILY OF BUILDINGS TO WHICH THE 1906 WAHROONGA AND 1909 WAITARA STRUCTURES BELONG

Wahroonga and Waitara station buildings were two of 267 examples of the same type.[footnoteRef:25]  This class of building represented 16% of all structures erected on platforms between 1855 and 1980.  A total of 143 or 53% were of brick construction and these were mainly in urban areas.  Now that says something about the location of power! The remainder were built of timber and tended to be located in rural locations.  For example, every platform building on the North Coast line being planned between 1909 and 1919 was of timber construction, as was most duplication structures on the Main Southern line between 1912 and 1917.  [25:  Sharp, op. cit., Vol. 2, p. 266 ] 


The design as used initially at Kiama in 1892 was applied to a further 21 examples until 1906 in various locations.  In that year, a new, comparatively less-ornate but still very attractive standard was approved at Wahroonga and this in turn became the new standard until 1911.  From 1912 to 1924, the design of the rendered aprons under the window sills changed.  Larger windows (the standard being two feet ten inches wide) had one design and smaller windows (the standard being two feet wide) a different design.  After 1924, all examples until 1935 were stripped of much of the external decorations.  

The family to which the Wahroonga and Waitara buildings belong has no formal label, but it belongs to a group of buildings that was influenced by trends in architecture in the general community and, in particular, what is known as the Federation style.  It would be incorrect to describe these buildings as examples of Federation architecture, but it is reasonable to describe them as being influenced by the Federation style.  It is also reasonable to describe the structures as the initial island platform building design as these were the very first structures designed and used specifically for island platforms.  The Federation-influenced style was used by the New South Wales Railways between 1892 and 1935 in all parts of the State but the 43-year period can be divided into four distinct sub-periods, namely:
 
· 1892 – 1899 
· 1901 – 1911  
· 1912 – 1924
· 1925 – 1935

The first period was from 1892 to 1899 during which time the buildings usually but not always had a higher level of ornamentation and a degree of ornamental differences between the examples.  The present building at Turramurra belongs to this first group.  The second time period extended from 1901 to 1911 and represented a stage 1 of a standard form of ornamentation. The next group of Federation-influenced buildings dates from 1912 to 1924 during which time the application of ornamentation was standardised on a less spectacular basis and the structures at Wahroonga and Waitara and the other buildings on the North Shore line date from this 1906-1911 time period.  The fourth period was from 1925 to 1935 and this was marked by a further but substantial reduction in the level of ornamentation on examples.  The present platform building at Petersham, Sydenham platform No. 6 and at Redfern platform No. 10 are examples of the post 1924 period. 
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Taken on 8th April 2013 is the above image of Kiama station.  The high level of ornamentation is reflected in the extensive moulding around the doors and windows as well as the provision of pediments above the doors. The circular gussets in the awning brackets were a feature of those buildings erected between 1892 and 1899, including those at the now demolished Chatswood and the surviving example at Turramurra.  Noticeable in this initial time period is the absence of a rendered string course around the external walls and the style of the moulding under the window sills. These features were very much based in the Victorian era, though the coloured panes in the upper window sashes reflect the Federation influence. After 1899, the Victorian features disappeared.

[image: ]
The above photograph was taken on 17th February 2004 of the now-demolished building on former platform Nos. 2 and 3 at Chatswood. It shows the following features: the absence of rendered ornamentation under the window sills, called aprons; the use of the circular gusset in the awning brackets, though much simplified compared with those at Kiama; the simplification of ornamentation above the windows; the use of a narrow band of moulding around the exterior walls; unusual shaped corbels on which the awning brackets sit and the elimination of at the top of the walls.

Just one year after the approval of the building for Chatswood, Henry Deane approved the plan for the present structure at Roseville.

[image: ]

The above photograph of Roseville shows what would become the standard design ornamental features of the Federation-influenced buildings for the period between 1901 and 1911. The ornamental features to note are: the further simplification of the render at the window heads; the application of a rendered string course (i.e. band of moulding) around the external walls; the same design of corbels as applied to Chatswood and ornate aprons of the same design below all window sills. The photograph was taken on 30th September 2018.

[image: ]
Taken on 30th September 2018, the photograph of Wahroonga shows simplified designs for the awning corbels and a different design for the aprons under the window sills, compared to the 1901 example at Roseville. This became the standard arrangement for the remaining duplication buildings on the North Shore between Chatswood and Hornsby (exclusive).

[image: ]
This photograph, taken on 30th September 2018, of Waitara shows the same pattern of moulding for the aprons underneath the window sills. This consistency of detailed design was first applied to the buildings on the North Shore line after the construction of the example at Wahroonga and was applied to all other duplication structures up to 1909, with the exception of the 1906 building at Hornsby to serve North Shore trains.

It was more likely to see brick examples in the Sydney-Newcastle-Wollongong-Blue Mountains rail corridors and timber examples in rural locations, but there were quite a few exceptions to this generalisation.  Federation-influenced platform buildings were either moderately sized or middle sized for more important country towns and featured slightly larger, attractive masonry buildings, such as at Yass Junction and Binalong.  The explanation of the level of ornamentation on Federation-influenced buildings was all about time.  

The widespread use of the Federation-influenced style of building as used at Wahroonga and Waitara station is reflected in the existence of other, similar examples near the Central Business District of Sydney.  For example, within a ten kilometre radius from Central can be found Redfern station with four similar examples and Petersham on the Main Western line and Erskineville with three examples on the Illawarra line.  It is also found on the North Shore line where all the buildings between Artarmon and Hornsby once had the same style of building.  All examples on the North Shore line, except that on no. 1 platform at Lindfield date from the duplication of the line between St. Leonards and Hornsby in the 1900-1909 period.[footnoteRef:26]  In a distance of 17 kilometres (11 miles), there were 11 stations with a similar styled building.  There are slight stylistic and other changes amongst the various examples that denote slightly different construction dates.  [26:  SRA, Opening Dates of Track Sections, including Duplications, Deviations etc., Unpublished Reference Manuscript, Former SRA Archives, 1985, p. 5] 



[bookmark: _Hlk528491054]COMPARISON WITH SIMILAR NORTH SHORE BUILDINGS

The design of the buildings between Artarmon and Waitara was originally based around the 74 feet long standard plan for the A8 platform building.  However, there were variations amongst the various examples.  The Table below sets out some dimensions that relate to the structures between Artarmon and Waitara when built with floor buildings of the same design family.

TABLE - SELECT BUILDING DIMENSIONS ARTARMON TO WAITARA

	STATION
	COLOUR OF EXTERNAL FACE BRICKS
	WIDTH OF AWNING
(feet & inches)


	BUILDING LENGTH
(feet)

	INTERNAL HEIGHT TO CEILING
(feet & inches)
	HEIGHT FROM CORBEL TO PLATFORM
(feet & inches)

	Artarmon
	Dark brown
	10’
	87’
	N/A
	N/A

	Chatswood No. 1
	Dark brown
	11’
	72’
	N/A
	5’3”

	Chatswood No. 2/3
	Dark brown
	10’6”
	87’
	N/A
	N/A

	Roseville
	Red
	9’6”
	72’
	N/A
	8’6”

	Lindfield No. 1
	Dark brown
	11’
	
	11’6”
	5’9”

	Lindfield No. 2/3
	blonde
	9’7”
	
	11’1”
	

	Killara
	Dark brown
	11’
	87’
	11’7”
	5’9”

	Gordon No. 2/3
	Dark brown
	N/A
	N/A
	12’
	

	Pymble
	Salmon 
	13’
	76’
	11’7”
	Not extant

	Turramurra
	Light salmon
	9’
	87’
	11’6”
	

	Warrawee
	Salmon 
	9’
	72’
	10’7”
	4’5”

	Wahroonga
	Light salmon 
	8’
	82’
	11’ 6”
	4’ 6”

	Waitara
	Salmon 
	11’
	72’
	11’
	3’ 6”


SOURCE: various plans, former SRA Archives and site inspections


The Table indicates that the North Shore line buildings were basically of two lengths - those with and those without a parcels office.  One additional difference was that the extension of the roof for the subsequent installation of an interlocking frame.  In regard to building width, awning width and placement of awning corbels there was a considerable amount of minor variation.  This was due to the use of different site supervisors and different builders.  Four different colours of bricks were used.  There were other variations.  Circular awning gussets were used at Turramurra and Chatswood on Nos. 2/3 platform.  There was no external moulded string course on the structure at Lindfield Nos. 2/3 platform, a feature restricted to that station, though the buildings at Chatswood and Turramurra had moulded string lines but no render.  The building on Nos. 2/3 platform at Chatswood used chamfered bricks on door openings but this feature was not used elsewhere on the North Shore.  Different location, time, different architects and site supervisors explain the variations.

No two platforms were the same width.  No two subways had common internal dimensions.  While there were broad common features in the official residences for Station Masters, it was section of departmental administration where some individual architectural and design expression existed.  The variations between examples of a particular standard demonstrate the will and desire of individual people in the design process to express their own ideas.  The surprising aspect is that the designers’ superiors approved these variations with impunity to the designers.  In all periods of design standardisation and in all other areas of railway operations, it is easy to see the lack of standardization, which shows the extent of individual expression by railway staff.  As one commentator expressed, there was a standard for every example.[footnoteRef:27]  Whereas the NSW rail organisation believed that it extensively engaged standardisation of nearly all everything, the opposite accorded much more credit.  In this way, individual staff even at a relatively junior level in the design office were able to express a fair degree of personal power. [27:  Comment made by Dr Jim Longworth, 28th June 2003.] 


The large degree of variations amongst the North Shore platform buildings indicate that, despite the enormity of the bureaucracy in the NSW Railways, there was a degree of tolerance of personal expression.  There was no attempt to enforce a standard colour of brickwork, standard building width or standard awning dimensions.  Of the 143 examples of brick Federation styled platform buildings, the buildings at Wahroonga and Waitara were examples of the type most commonly built in that group of structures, a design group that existed between 1901 and 1911, though there were exceptions.

It was the NSW Government Railways that acted to help define a region of Sydney known as the Upper North Shore.  It did this by providing platform buildings between Hornsby and Artarmon of roughly the same material, design, size and standard.  
Up until 1916, Artarmon possessed a timber building, as did every other station south of Artarmon to Sydney Harbour.  Yes, St. Leonards possessed a brick building on the Sydney-bound platform in 1890, but it received a timber building in 1893 on an opposing platform when the line was extended to the Harbour.  Up until 1916, Artarmon was linked sociologically to the Lower North Shore but, with its new brick platform building in 1916, it changed its social orientation 180 degrees.  So far as the Railway administration was concerned, the Upper North Shore commenced at Artarmon from 1916.  In this way, the NSW Government Railways said that, not only was the site of Artarmon sufficiently important to warrant a platform, a building and staff, it was of greater importance to the region and thus warranted a regional connection by the provision of the present brick building in 1916.  In essence, the locality of Artarmon held a very high level of meaning to the NSW rail administration at the time.


END REMARKS
The New South Wales Railways was complicit with the New South Wales Government in identifying the North Shore region as a geographic area for people of higher socio-economic status. It achieves this by providing attractive and uniformly designed station buildings between Artarmon and Hornsby.
In the history of railway station buildings, there was widespread community disinterest in the design of the structures in the 20th century. The history of the buildings at Wahroonga and Waitara confirms this conclusion.  The greater priority for travellers is always been on-time running, the cleanliness of stations and trains and staff courtesy.
The examples at Wahroonga and Waitara stations demonstrate the various ways in which the Department of Railways addressed the need for additional accommodation related to ticket and parcels functions.  At Wahroonga, the general waiting room was eliminated, while at Waitara a detached building was erected at the top of the subway. Why did the Department do one thing at one station and do another thing at another station? It seems to have been just the whim of the architect.  The existence of such whims was also evident in the 1990s when the two stations had different treatments for the installation of new public toilets.  At Wahroonga, the toilets were placed in the Hornsby end of the building while at Waitara they were placed on each side of the structure.
The platform buildings at the two stations are excellent examples of the relationship between the owner of the Railways – i.e. the New South Wales Government – and the transport operator, the New South Wales Railways and its subsequent corporate identities.
The station has a degree of protection from design and environmental changes  from its inclusion on the State Rail Section 170 Heritage and Conservation Register.

The assistance of Stephen Buck, OAM, Graham Harper, Phil Shirvington, John Watsford and Robert Wilson in the preparation of these notes is gratefully acknowledged.  Stephen has added a tremendous amount of detail relating to Wahroonga station over the past 20 years.  With his very careful and thoughtful analysis, John Watsford spotted every typographical error in the draft text.

Stuart Sharp
8th December 2018
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  Taken on 9 th   February 2006, the image shows the view of the booking office at  Wahroonga.   There are several objects no longer in use in 2018, namely the ticket  issuing   machine, the cash till, CCTV  screen   and CityRail brochures.   When the booking  office was relocated to the Sydney end of the building in 1945, two ticket windows  were provided.  One of these remains and is visible to the right of the standard, CityRail  ticket window in use.  
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